JAMAICA

IN THE COURT OF APPEAL

RESIDEWT MAGISTRATE'S CRIMINAL APPEAL NO, 68/869

EEFORE; THE HOW. MR, JUSTICE WRLIGHT, J.A.
HHE HOW. MISS JBSTICE MORGAN, J.A.
THE HOW. MR. JUSTLCE GORDOW, J.A. (Ag.)

REGINA
V&,

_ HAZEL GRAUT
- ELDOH GRANT

F. M. G. Phipps, ©9.C., &. DeLisser and
Di. Paul Ashley for the appellants

Richard Small, JSandra Phillips and
Lorna Brrar-eayle for the Crown

Hovember 27, 28, 29, 30;
December i, 4, 5, 4, 1989
and March 19, 1990

WRIGHT, J.A.:

These appeals are against convicuibns and sencences
by His Honour Mr., David J. Pitter, Resident Magistrate {(as he
their was) for the parish of St. James on several ccunts of an
ihaictment containing 117 counts viz. 38 counts for Forgery,
37 counis for causing noney tou be paid by false pretences,

38 counts for causing a peison to affix his name by false
"pretences and wwo countg for causing & valuable gecurity to
\ be delivered by false preterces.,

At the ouiselt che charges against the respective

appellants were as follows:-
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Hazel Grant - 38 counts for Fouogery

(&%)

7 countcs for causing money
o be paid by false pretences

(303

33 counts for causing a person
to affix his name by false
precences

2 counts (33 & 354) for causing
a valuable security to be
delivered by false pretences;

Eldon Grant - 1 count (31) for Forgery
jointly with ilazel Grant
counts (32 & ¢3) for obtaining
a valuable security by false
precvences

t

1 count (34) for caus:ing a

person cvo affix his name by false

pretences (jointly with Hazel

Grant)

1 counv (65) for causing money

to be paid by false pretences

(joincly with Hazel Giant).
8y amencient co the indicument ordered by the Court after all
evidence had ween adduced (which occasiovned much objection)
flazel Grant was added v two couuis (32 & ¢3) which originally
chavged Blaon Grant alone wich obtaining a valuable security
by false pretences and Eldon Grant was added to two counts
(62 & ©9) which origyinally charged Hazel Grant alone with
Foryery (02) and (66) causing a person to affix his name by

false pretences. The verdicis returned were as follows:-—

i. No verulcts were returned on the 3¢ councs
charging Forgery

Hazel Grant:

o

Wot Guilty on counts 32, &4, 45

Guilcy on 36 councs foi causing money to
be paid by false precences;

on 3¢ counts fui causing a person to
affix his name oy false pretences

on two counts (32 & 63) for obtaining a
valuable security by false pretences

3. Eldon Grant:
Hot Guilty on count ¢5

Guilty on counts 32, 34, 03 & oOL.



Sencences were as follows:-

Hazel Grants

On each count except counts 3Z, 34, &3, 6o,

imprisonment atc hard labour for three years

to run concurrencly with each other. On

counts 34, 34, 63, 46 imprisonment at hacd

labour for wwo years on each count to wrun

concurrently with each other and consecu-

tively to the sentences of three years.

flden Grance
On counts 22, 34, €3, 0¢ zmpriscnment at
hacd labour for two years on each count to
run concurrently with each ocher.
The appellants are husband and wife and the charges
arose ouc of igsvegularities in the sScotia Plan Loans (The SPL)
at the Bank of Hova Scotia Sam Sharpe OLguare, dMontego Bay,
where the wife was che Loans Officer during the period
19th Nevember, 19¢5, to 13th april, 1987, when the Bank was
defrauded of over 1.4 million dollars. S0 astutely ware
the affairs of the Depaiuvment conducted chat during che
period under review aiter cinecks by both local and foreign
inspectors she veceived commencdations and a Special Award
for operating the number one department in the Cavibbean!
They had not uncovered any trace of what cawme Lo be repre-
sented in <his indicusient as a massive fraud. This only
yoes to confium the opinions of two of her colleagues that
she was efficlent and meticulous.

The trial vccupied fifteen trial days between

May 24 and Decembler 28,

Pt

198y, and involved the testimony of
thivevy-four witnesses. In an apparent endeavour to
encompass che full range of criminal activivies envisaged
by the draftsman he included the 3¢ counts for Forgery
whiich were presented as alternatives to the 38 counts for
causing a persocn to affix his name by false piretences.
However, degpite gurenuous submissicus by both sides on the

validaty of these counts for forgery we do not regard it
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necessdry Lo express any copilnion on these councs for iche
simple reason tha: no verdicis were recorded on them and no
submissions were made with a view to the substicution of
verdicts on these counts for the verdicts on the counts to
which they are the alternative. We will, therefore, say
notinlng further on the counts for forgery.

These 15 also another aspect of chese appeals upon
wiiich we will expend no fucther effortc. Mr. Phipps cited
several cases in support of his submissions on the provision
for amendment in the Indictments Act, but after Mr, Small had
responded Mr. Phipps announced that those provisions were no
longer relevant and that those cases may be relevant ia
tdentifying tne Llype of amenduents which may be made., But,
as will be seen, chese provisions are not idencic¢al to the
provisions of tue Judicatuce (Resident Magilstrgtes) Act, wich
which we are concerned.
iie case against Bldon Crant was prascented on the
basis of cumnmon design. it will, thevefore, be necessavy to
deverminbe whecher such a common design is disclosed in tne
evidence. ‘Yhe system obtaining in the Pl Departient warcants
close atvtencivi in order to be able to determine tne alleged
manipulations by Hazel Grant.

priefly stvated, the contention of the prosecution.

-

My, Xent Pantry, Deputy Director of Public
Jrosecutions, in opening the case for the presecution was
that Hazel Grani, in her capacity as Loeans Ufficer for the

period 1985-1987, preparced several loan applications, wwenty-

five of wihiich were on behalf of fictitvious borrowers. 1in

)

se applications HManager's Cheques were

t

pursuance of the

4

caused to be prepared «nd these were signed by Hazel Granc
and other signing officers. Some of these chegues were

subsequencly cashed at the Bunx by Hazel Grant and soune were



paid for encashment elsewhere, Certain of these cheqgues
were obtaindd by BEldon Grant wiiich he paid over for his use
aind benefit. The amendments to the indictment which were
later grapted by tie Court were said to be necessary because
the indigtment, as prescenced, did not fully match the evidence
which emesyed. The guegtion of tlie amendments wags very stoucly
deboted before as,
We begln, then, with a consideration of the system
in thg SPL Department as outlined by dr. Richard Haughton-~James
who wes then Senior Assistant Manager at the Bank. Applicants
for loains would atctend upon the Loans Ufficers who weoula £ill
in the application forw (Ex. 1) reflecting the following
informatiocn:

wane and adaress of applicanc,
date of birth, maritcal status,
spouse’s name and address as
well as any previous address
o} applicant and spouse,
ocdcupation anda ewployer of
upplicant as well as of spoucc
any liabilitvies uibh any oche
bagnk, personal asse and
geoneral liabilitiesn

Each loan applicaticn s nunbered in a special register kept

-

foxr the purpose, Security for the loan would De enterved un

the application fouwm which the a@pplicant would then sign.

The Luans Cificer would then proceed to verify the information
gupplied on a Verification Forim (Bx. 2) provided fogs the
purpose.

£f Lhwe auwount of tihe loan is within the Loans
Gfficer's limiv then she would determine whether tie loan
would be gignted aiter ascercaining the applicant'’s ability

to repay the lcan. Where the amount exceeds hier limit she

o
I

Y
Y

would present the application form, togecher with the
Verification Form, to the apprapriate officer. This officer
does not deal with the applicant but with: the documents

presented by the Loans Officer. After appioval, the Loans
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Officer would write on the back of the application form the
name in whicih the chegue is to be drawn. Thereafcer, the Loans

Ufficer would coumplete a cheygue reguisition form anc in

accordance with the information thereon a Manager‘s Cheqgue(s)

=
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£f the amount 13 within her limic she would
sign the chegue and nave 1{ counter-signed by an auvthorised
officer ~ Assistant Hanagey, Cperating Credit Officer, Seniuvr
Assistant iianagcer,; or uihe Managesr - who as well as the Loans
Officer, would initial the reguisition fcerim. The Loans Qfficer
would also initial the back of the upplication form indicating

that the cheque nad becn icsued and disbursed.

b
i)

The nexv stage is that the applicacion form
protocopied and this photocopy 1s then checked by the asuditor
o ensure tinat it conteins everything on the original. The
asudivor would then initial the photocopy in ved and the
original woulu <chen be sent to the Comduter Centre at Premier
Plaza, Half way Tree, tu be processed, fithin about wwe days
the original applicetion forin would be returned together witlia
a card {che Loan information Card) bearing tche idencical
information on the adpplication Fosw. “There awve now three
representations of cie application form - che original, the
photocopy anu the Leoan infermation Card. The phcitocopy is
filed away in a special place auu kept unuer the Auditor's

control until a cevtain time when it would be shredded. The
original and ithe Loan infornmaticn Card ar.: passed to the
Loans Offizcer who checiks the accuracy of i Loan Informatzon

-

Cara against che original. The original is choen zeoi in the

applicanc's file in a Cabinet. The Loan Information Card is

Rept in a tray wuring the day and lecked away in a vault
by nighitc,

£f the loan is fos the pucchase of & motor vehicle,

then other forms are prepared -
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{a) lotor Vehicle Appraisal Form
{b) insurance Form

{c) Motor Vehicle index Card

[oX]
LJ

Bill of Sale.

Generally, security for loans are by means of -

('?'

ate

©

(a) lortgage over real es

t

{b) Cenventional Bill of Sale

<)

{c) Promissory Note

—
(o3
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ey

v lien on savings whoce the
borroweyr has a savings account
alt the bank.
When tne loan is in excess of tne Lozne Officer's
limit the approval is done by an cificer within whose limiv

che amount falls, afiter he has scrutinitzed the forms presented

to him by the Loans Officer. 7This senlor person would not

(X3

normally sce tioe appllcant but would deteimine nis abili

O

y t
repay the loan frowm the informacion supplied. The Loans Officer
then procures the preparation of the cheque which she then
siyns and prescnis te cthe avthorized person who signs ithe chegue
and initials the back of the application form as well as the
Reguisivion Form.

The appellant dazel Grant, as Loans Officer, had a
limit of $40,80¢ which was later increased to $7u, 000,
Accordingly, site would grant loansg within those limits at the
relevant times and no other officer would deal with the
applicants. it was only at the pointc where the cheques were
to e counter-signed that a senior cfficer had anything to do

- -

wich applicationy which fell witchin her compecence to approve

Bl

'mf, o

cr ease of refercence, it may be useful to set out,

P

at this poini, the wwency-five loang from which the charges

(‘.

-

arisce giving the nanes of thie applicants, tcthe cates of the
applicacions, the awount and purpose of the loans as these appear
in the Opcn and Closed Register Book (Ex. 32), the Registel

in which the lvan applications are nunbered:-



AS5ton Wisdom
Adrian Blakec
George Punhan

Salmon

Ylura
pawarsr

sylvescer Graham
Owen Rose

Clive Lawrence
Garth Williams
Aiphanso Murray
Derrick Jones

Oswuld Dawkins

anthony Harvey

Sefton Morris
mdgar Ward

David Graham

Dennis Halker

John Dixon
Fredegsick Arnold
Vincene darris
Samuel Brown
Oscar Brasscot
Delbers denry

Bgerton Gordon

in kxeospang wivh zihe

g, 10
5., 1t
25,11

2¢. &
3. 3.

3. 4.

gystem ouvlined

[o ]
(<3

]
(«9)
(3}

o
[
[

°
e
(e}

. 86

87

$22,700
$535,000
$43,000
$40,900

365,000

$4¢, 000 -~ Purchase Car
345,000 - Purchase Bus
$80,U00 » Purchase iM/Bus
5128,0G0 - Purchase Cars
in Rental
$30,000 ~ Repair bus
532,000 -~ Improve Hole
$97,500 - Purchase Bus
540,000 -~ Repairs M/Bus
$39,000 - Purcnase Cax
$40,000 - Home improve-
$40,0060 ~ Purchase Car
565,000 - improve Home
$41,030 ~ Purchasce Car
$45,500 - Purchase Car
$56,000 ~ Purchase Car
$70,0060 ~ Purchase Car
$40,0U0U -~ Purchasc Car.
carlicer the

relevane documicnts in conneccion wich these loans were prepared

and distributeda i1.e.

the

For

the photocopy loan Applicatcion Foxrm,
Original &pplication Form and the Loan Information Card.

reasons wiich will appear later tie Oviginal applicacion

Forms are not avallable but from the ghotocopy and the Loan



.,..9._

Information Cawd it was ascertained that the purpose of the
first eignht loans, which does not appear in the Open and
Closed Register, was as follows:-

Aston Wisdom ~  Repair Truck

Adrian bakei - Repair Truck

George Dunham ~ Repailr Bus

Edward Salmon - Purchase Mini Bus

s a5

Sylvester Graham -  Purchase

o
£

=
¥

—
Foin
[
f
[

Cwen Rose - Purchase

Clive Lavrencc ~ Purchase Sus

Garth Williams - Purchase Car.
UGf vhe twenty~five leoans, therefore, three were for
nome lmpeovemcnt and twenty-two wecse either for the purchase
oy wepair of motor vehicles., One may be forgiven for tininking

that the possession of a title is a pre-requisice vo obtaining

a lcan for home inprovement Lud none of the winsee boriroweis

3

of the cmouncs of $38,U00, $4C,000 and $65,000 respecrively,

for thaco purpose, had a title to their vespective holdings.
indeed, it doeg not appear from the documentation ithat any
of tue twenty~-five borrowers had a title to their declared
holaings, « fact which would have been of assistance in tracing
tiie borrowers. Ancther peculiar feature of these loan trans-
aciicns is that invarialbly, in accordance with the notatcion
made on the back of the application forms by the Loans Officer
(Hazel Grant), the disbursenent cheques were made payable
persons other tiun the borroweyr pul not even in one

instance was the addeess of any such persons disclosea, There
is, therefore, no means of viacing these persons. also, in
Keeping wich the syscem, Lhese chaegues were prepaccd pursuant
v Cheque Requisitions made by Hazel Grant and, with but a

few exceptions, they woere cncashed by Hazel Grant at che

with the exception of one chegue
self-same bank. It is & face chat/the fourty chegues tendered
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in evidence, jelevanc to these loans, were all signed by

[

the female appellant, Hazel Grant, and co=-signed by such
other authorized pessons to whom she presented thein foro
signavure i.e. Paul Powell, iichard Haughton-Jamcs,
FPerdinand Lindg, CGlagdys Overton, George Ryan, Evic Marcin,
Derbert Kiffin and Clasion thorpe. 7he signaturcs of each

of these officers, who did not

i

estify, wece identified by
conpeltent witnesses.

because the uffizing ¢f these signatures was
procured .n accordance with ihe system then obtaining, the
cccasion to guesition the genulneness of the transacrions did
noc arise save for one inscance related by Gladys Overwon,
a Relief Manager at the timg and an authoirized signaijory.
The incident had to do with EBzinibite 94 and 68, two chegues

foo $7,00p and $33,000 respe¢tively. The corresponding

s

cheque requisitions (Exs, 6C & 6D whic¢h, like both cheques,
bore the date 19.6.86 were preparcd py Hazel Grant and
disclosed that they were the disbursement cheques for the

A

loan of $40,000 which Hazel Crant had granted to Edward
Salmon. Exhibit $A was made payable to "Hamlin Wisdowm/

E. Salmon" and Exhibit ¢B to "Hamlin Wisdom". Miss Overton
testified that they had been sent to her early one morﬁing
by HaZzel CGrant for her signature but she returned thém
without signing them for two reasons: viz. the cheques for
$7,000 (Ex. 6R), as related, supra, had as payee “"Hamlin
Wisdom/E. 3almon® which means “pay Hamlin Wisdom on Bccount
E. Salmon". The name E:mlin Wisdom was unfamiliar o

Ms. Overtor and furihevr she was aware of an E. Salmon who
had a bad debt. She accordingly reguested the folder which
would disclose the necessary informuition about this lcan.
She did not get the folder but later in the day Hazel Grant

confronted her about the matter telling he: she had



received her message but that her customer could not be the
E. Salmon with the bad debt. In orcaer to allay Ms. Overton's
apprehensions Hazel Grant told her to look out the window
where there was a shop "Salmon's Variety Store". That Salmon,
she said, was her customer. Thus assured, Ms. Overton signed
the cheques and Initialled the Cheque Reguisitions, one of
which had "Hamlin Wisdom s0ld to SPL E. Salmon” and the

other "Hamlin Wisdom sold to SPL Edward Salmon”. In vesponse
te Ms. Overton'’s (uery as to why Mr. Salrmon’s name was not
fully written, Hazel Grant promised to correct it. However,
that document {(Ex. D) still has "E. Salmon”. She had also
sought to dismiss Ms. Overton'’s concern about the cheque by
telling her there was no need to worry because the cheque
would be lodged to Aston Wisdom’e savings account.

Evidence from Mrs. Emily Salmon is to the effect
that the store opposite the Sam Sharpe Sguare Branch of the
Bank c¢f Nova Scqotia is situate at 32 St. James Strect and is
namcd "Salmon's Barcain Store and Photc Services Ltd." and
is wperated by herself and her husband James Alexander Salmon.,
She was not aware of any loan transaction with that Bank
because that is not where they get their loans. Furthermore,
they live ip St. James and not at £alt Marsh, White Sands
Beach P.0., Trelawny, which is the address shown for Edward
Salmon. But that is not all.

It willl be recalled that Edward Salmon's loan of
$4C,000 was granted to pucrchasc a minibus. However, the
disbursement <id not effectuate that purpose. The chequs
for $7,000 {Ex, GR) bear Hazel Grant's initial authorizing
encashnent and the other cheque (Ex. $3) for $33,000 with
the name Heamlin Wisdom endorsed thereon was lodged in what
the Bank treats as a safe-keeping account ~ that is an

account with a balance of over %200 which has not been used



u-idw
for over a period of two ye¢ars. Erica Crews, a xeller,

testified that Hazel Grant presented the cheque to her

to such an account numbered 3590 in the name Hamlin Wisdom.
The lodgment slip had been written up by Hazel Grant, whose
inztials appear on it, in addition to the initials of five
other bank cofficialg. It needed that much authorization to
be so treated and got it. This closes the account of the
identity of BEdward Salmon and of the disposal of the loan
of $4¢,000 which Hazel Grant had approved for him,

HMr. Haugnton-James testified that no bank official apart
from the Loan Officer was requived to check the identity

of applicants.

Tt will be recalled that where the loan is with
respect to a motor wvehicle then therve would be appraisal
;, forms notifying the Insurance Ccumpany of the Bank's
interest and an agsignment in writing of the Insurance
Policy to the Bank. Despite the number of loansgs relating
to rwotor vehicles, none of these forms was produced at the
trial because none was available and there was evidence in
relation to only one such Insurance Policy.

Veronica Linton, vho was assistant Loans Qificer
to Hazel Grant, testified that about mid-March 1287, on a
day when Hazel Grant was not at office, she was making
enguiries concerning the motor car which David Graham was

supposed to have purchased and this causcd hei to check on

o

his file in which she saw a “"cover note” from an insurance
Company. Accordingly, she contacted the Insurance Company
and obtained certain information which she relayed to
lHazel Grant on her retuxrn to office. That information was
that the Insurance Company repoerted that it had no record

-

of any insurance for David Graham. Hazel Grant responded

rogether with the lodgment slip (Ex. 6G) to lodge the chague
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by shrugdging her shoulders, which to the Assistant Leoans
Officer, scemed uncharacteristic of the meticulous and
efficient Loans Officer she knew the appellant to be. Next,
the Assistant opened the file and drew appellant’s attention
to the “"Cover Note"” with particular reference to the date.

She wvas met with silence; so vnable to make any headway with
the inquiries she handed the file to the appellant saying to
her "Here is the file, you deal with it™. The Assistant Loans
Officer never saw that file again.

The evidence of Miss Linton's contact with the
insurance Company was confirmed by Ena Grayson, General
Manager, Security interpational Agency, 79 Barneit Street,
Montego Bay, who testifled that there were several conver-
sations with Miss Linton on the matter and that when her
searches failed to disclose the required information she
requested and reccived from Migs Linton a copy of the *Cover
Note" in question. With this in her possession, she wasg
then abkle to‘conclude vhat David Graham was never a client
of her company. The curtain was brought down on her
evidence thus:

“Q. Did you find from the company’s
record any document comparablc
to the document received from
Miss Linton?
A The document weas comparable but
not the same. David Graham was
never a client of my company."”
so far ae David Graham is concerned reference 1s made to
Loan Information Card {(Ex. 19D) which discloses his address
te be Zandy Bay P.C., Hanover, and that his loan of $329%,000
was approved for "the purchase of Honda Civic¢ Motor Cax
(a very pew model) with serial no. 34205 21441".
Mics Lipten's efforte failed to locate either David Graham
orx this motor car. The loan was disbursed by Manager’s

Cheque Wo. hU366000 dated December 15, 198G, signed by
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Hazel Grant and D. L. Kiffin and payable to "Glen Parkes

a/c David Graham". That chegue was c¢ncashed cn the following
day by Hazel CGrant with Roy Glenn, Remittance Teller No. 1

at the Bank.

~

Miss Janet Young, Sales Co-ordinacoxr at Motor

e

Sales and Company Limited, testified that in August 1926,
the male appellant, Sldon Grant, attended at their office
in cempany with Mr. Derrick McKoy. his attorney-at-law,
and placed an order for ten Towny Motor Cars at a price of
342,835 each. Subseguently, he returned, made a deposit
of $5G,000 and informed her that he was forming a company
to buy the cars but that the documentation was not in place
but he would advise her further. Later he returned and
advised her he would take one of the cars in his namc. He
paid a further $2,335 in c¢ash and took the car leaving a
balance of $1G,00C on deposit. He subsequently telephoned
wnG advised her that the name of the company was "Pestival
Car Rentals” and he regussted a debit note for four of the

cars in that name. £fhe complicd. The note was in the

amount of $171,0u0. Be came and took delivery of the four

cars,paying the amount by Bank of Hova Scotia Chegque No.
80347509 dated September 30, 1986 for the sum of $171,341.24

signed by Richard Haughton-James and Eric Martin, Credit
Officer. Mr. Martin tesvified that the cheque was presented
to him for signature by Hazel Grant and at the time it was
accompanied by the Chegue Requisition initialled by her,

A
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was recuired by the System both himself and

M. Haughton-Janmes signed the cheque and initialled the
Chegue Requisiticn. Hazel Grant did not sign that cheque.
The cheque (Ex. 14A) was made payable to "Motor Sales &
fervice a/c Festival Car Rentals” while the Requisition

Form in Hazel Grant's handwriting shows the cheque to be..
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in favour cf "Motor wales & bervice 30ld to SPL anthony Harvey”.
A departure from cite vegular pattern is observed here. On the
occasions when chegues were issued with reference to the
account following the name cof the payee that name would be the
name of the borrower on whose account the payrment was being
made. The difference here 18 that whereas the accountc
seflecied on the clieque is "Festival Car Rentals® the account
on the Reqguisition for that chegue 1is Anthony Harvey. How
there was a loan in the name of Anthony Harvey for $125,000
but no loan in the name of Festival Car Rentals. Thoe infor-
mation written on the bacii of mnthony Harvey's applicacion
shows that the diiference was accounted for by the payment
of a deposit of $42,373.24. ‘The cost of the loan brought
the Linal figyre vo $210,740, cwue gecuriity for which 1s &
Promissory Hote in a like sum,

A pertinent guesvion is "Whace is the connection

(l’a

between kldon Grant, Anchony Harvey and Festival Car Rentals?®

®

On the Loan Application form the name of the borrower is

stated as "Anthony Harvey ©/as Fesvival Car Rentals". iHis
addiess 18 given as Readaing P.O. and hLis occupation as Car

Rental Agent and Villa Operator. Yei investigations by
Deteccive Corporal Cecil Lewis failed to secure any infou-
imation of his o¢xistence in the area.

The Cevtifaicate of Incorporacion shoews thouo

Yesiival Car Fentals Limited was incorporated on Sepiemper 2,
198¢. The wwe signatories to the HMemoranduin of Assocliacion

cre Derrick McKoy and Moilsie Jacksan,

“r, McKoy testified chac Eldon Grant enguaged his
services in the formation of Festival Car Rentals Limited
but said ke did not wish to be a director. BEldon Granu anu

his brother Henvy Grant, wihio hela 5% of the shares, were

megbers of the company and tie first Dicectors were
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Derrick lhacKoy and Henry Grant.
There is ahother chegue involving Eidon Grant.
Zt is cheyue no. 40344454 {(Ex. 7B) dated July 15, 1%do, for
the amouni of 57¢, 200 signed by Hazel crant and George Ryan
payable to arthur Valentine. The Chegue Regulsition dated

e
3

/1/86, prepared by Harzel Grant, siiows thav this cheque

©
~

b

represented o porciocn of the loan of 85,000 in the name of
Sylvester Graham for che purchase of a bus. The balance of

the loan 314,968 {532 went towards churges) was paiu out by

chegue no. AU344452 (BEx. 74) dated July 15, 1966, in the

nawe of Arthur Valentine and was signed by Hazel Grant and
Ferdinand Lindon Thas chedue wus cashed av the Bank.
svidence of this is che initicl of Hazel Grant authorising
encashnment, the tamg of Renitrance Teller uic. 1 and detaills
of the cash paid out. Sylvester Grabam, on wihouse accounc it
purporcs cu have peen diawn, Was never found by the Pclice
in uhe Salt Spraing Road addresy on the application and no
wnformation was ceceived that he had ever lived in that area.
dor was the dus for the purchase of which the loan was
granted ever located,

The cheque for $70,000 was differently creaced.
Lt found ius way into Mr. HcKoy'fs Clients' Accouint at the
hands of BEldon Goant. M. McKoy testificed thivt as a pari

cf his practice he operated a Clients’ Account at th nk

Q‘

Ba&

[N

e

of Comnerce Jawmaice Limited, Kingsten of which Xldon Girant,
& clzent of leng-scanding, had snowledge. At Eldon Grant's
vequest, arrangeitent was made fer Grant o make a lodgment
to the accountc the number for which was supplied to Grant,
e was subscyguently satvisfied that the lodguent was made of
$70,000, which was by the chegue (Bx. 78) which beazs an
endorsenent “arthur Valencine-Deposit C/a #¢203617 B of

Conai. Kings st.®. Evidence of Melony Tapper, Adainistrator
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of that Bunk, confirms that the account bearing .that

nuiber was the Clients® hccount operated by Derrick and
Grace McRoy and that the lodgment was in fact made to the
account. inceed, Mr. McKoy cestified that he disbursed the
aounit on bldon Grai's instructions by making payment to
Hotor soles und Service. As a matter of conmeni, 1t is
wvorithy oi note that the "avcnur Valentine® endorscd on these
o cnegues under consideracvion, Exhibits 74 and 7B, nmanifescs
uigtinct dissamiluritiezs. Lt will be necessary to return
laver to consider the implicetions avising from the dealings
with these chieques.

TV

Mhere are wwo othoy cheques relacing to Festival
Cuar Kentals. Cheque no. BU4E55500 (Ex. 28A) dated April 16,
15¢7, for ithe amount cf $£44,000 payable o "Festival Carx

Rentals o/c R. Bailey?” signed by Hazel Granct and Richard

2]

\04a55492 (Fw., 294) dated

50, 0 to "Festival
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sanme Lwe auchorized
persons.  Botil are stamped on the back "Festivaul Car Rentcals™

and each bears what ig intended to be cthe signacure

"A. Harvey" but the wo signacures are dissimilar. The

N

puvpuse of each chegue is stated on the back thus:
On Bxhiibitc 284 -

"This paymenc L3 wmade on benalf
cf maverton Barley and constitutes
balance in full of cash price sale
of 1965 Milsuviishi Towny after cash
YL or net trade in allowance
wf $12,0€00.°

On che baclk of Bxhidbic 294 -

Tifuds payment is nuade on behalf of
Bdyar Smith and constitutes balance
in full of cash price of sale of
1965 pMivsubishi Yowny aficer cash
payment . ”

(Huzel Granc's dnitials).



it may be of more ihan passing inierest that the cars purchasea
by Eldon Grant from Motor Sales and Service Company were 1985
Mitsubishi Townys.

Mrg. Janet Young's evidence; supported by the bales
Urders — Bas. 53G-53H - signed by Eldon Grant, shows that the
lasv of the five cacs delivered to BEildon Grant was delivered
on Ccvuober 3, 1986. He asked her cto hold che other five
whiclh: he hac crucred and gave her telephone number 952-4440
by wnich she could make contact with him thiough his wife
sgince he aid net nave his own telephone. When she did not
hear from him for some time sihe called the number which
¥1ldon Grant had lefc her (Lt happens to ke the telephone
number for the Bank of Nova Scotia, sam Sharpe dguare) and
after appropriate idencification by both parties she spoke
with - the female appellant telling her to tell her husband
co come and take delivery of the cars. They spoke on three
occasions. Un one occasion when she called kMrs. Grant was
not available and she left a message to which Mrs. Granc
regponded by calling lier. There was still on depusit a
balance of $10,00u for Eluocn Grant which she subsequently
naid to nis atcorney-at-iaw, Mr. Derrick McKoy, on huis
preseiting & writuen auvihorization from BEldou Grant. That
vas In Decemper 1980, Eldon Grant did noc take delivery of
the other five cars.
£

ic seemed peculiar that several of these loan
cheques were cashed by tne Loans Utficer Hazel Granc, it

woulu seem thar the mystery deepens Ly the evidence bf several
Yellera av vhe Bank that the Loans Officer wag rthe one froia
wiom they received payments in respect of these loan accounts.
Payments were evidenced by documencs called Debit Contras on

wiiich would be recurded the devails either by the tellers

from the information she supplied or by Mrs. Crant herself
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and there were occasions when she did not present tche paymentc
cards which should accompany the payments. The evidence of
fous Tellers viz, Cari Stephenson, Donna Williaws, Roy Glenn
and Peter Muiray, supported by twenty-six Debit Contruas, 1is
that during the period 29th July, 1986 to 1Uth April, 1987,
Hazel Granc made fifty-four payments in respect 0f twenty-

tlhireea

C
H

the twenty-five accounts in guestion totalling
5124,413. There was one payment in each of the following
accounts Jevon Scoit, Delbert Henry, Fredeiricih Arnold,
Devrick Jones, Alphauso Murray, Zrrol kurray and Samuel Brown;
two payments on eacihh ¢f the following - Gesrge Dunhianm,

Jouian Dixon, Edgar Ward, Vincent Hacris and Clive Lawsence;
three payuents on each of the following - Anthony Harvey,
Owen Rose, Bylvester Graham, Dennis Walker, Oswald Dawkins,
David CGraham and Saeftven Morrisy four each for Aston Wisdom
and BEdward Salmon and five payments for Adrian Baker. AS a
matter of interest so far as dates are concerned it is noted
that the last lcan in the name of Egerteon Gordon for $40,000
was goanted on &th April, 1987, one payment of 54,391 was
wade on fuh Apcil, 1987, eawght of the payments totalling
$15,033 were made on Sth april, 1587; twenuvy payments
cotalling $45,271 were made on 1L0th April, 1587 and lazel
Grant left the bBank on Vacation Leave on 13th Apcil, 1987

to retarn on 20th May, 1947 but she did not return and as it
cranspired no further payments were made on these loans.

e payments by her brought the accounts up tou date and so
wvoided any queries during her absence. She tendered her
resignation on 20th May, 1987. It was this latter event
which cccasiuned the enquiries which resulited in these
charges.

A1l ilovans were numbered and registered in a book

and tiie loan documenis carried that number. Each day a
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computcer prinv-out would shiow the loans on which the payments
were delinduenit., During llazel Grant's absence,; the Depart-
ment was managed oy Mrs., Veconica Linten, the Assistant Loans
Officer. For reasons which have not been digclosed, the bank
did noc accept dazel Grant's resignation but Mrs. Linton

T

remained in charge of the Department since Hazel Grant was

si:ill absent. When Mrs. Linton checked the compucer print-oui

of delinguent accounts on 26th May,

I3

557, she obscerved the

-t

name Samuel Brown. The date of that loan was 24th Fepruary,
i%e¢7, and s¢ pecause oi the paynent of the instalment by
lavel urant on L0th Apeil, 1987 & payment was just noew due
on Samuel Brown's account. When Mrs., Linton saw this name
she took out all the Lean information Cards in respect of
current loans. OJhe discovered from samuel bBrown's Card

(Ex, 24D) that neither a Savings or Current .Accounc was listced.
she checked the filing Cabinet for Samuel Brown's file. There
was nohne. When she checked his Promissory Note che recognised
che handwriting ot Hazel Grani at the place where the borrower

s

should sign. Zhe made a further check on the delinguent list

and came upen the names Alphanso Murray, Frederick Arnold,

David Graham, Bdward salmon, Dennis Walker,Brrol Hucsray

George Dunham, Edgay Ward, Derrick Jones, Delbert ienry and
sefton Morris. It will be recalled chat these were amonyg
i

the loans on which paymenis nad been made by Hazel Grant on

April ©, ¥ 1V before she went on leave. There were no

o
[
ol

files to be found in wespect of these leoans. There was no

DONs

to telegrams which Mrs. Linton chen senc to these

o

res
various persons. On examination of the Loan Informacion Cards

Lhig discovered certain similarities viz:s

1. Hone f the Lorrovers resided
wn Montego Bay

. &1l cperated out of thedlxr homes
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3. None had a telephone
4, All were self-employefd and

were eicher single of married
with uncmployea wives$.

-3

Thanizs to a change introduced by Mr, Haughton-James,
which had epparently been kept closely guarded, the copies

of Loan Applications were no longer bging shredocd buc wege
kept by chi Auditor. By reference to thes¢ copies 1t was
determined which were the missing files. When the celegrams
farled o biring resulits Mrs. Linton ook to the road in
search of ithe borsowers and the vehicles which they were
supposed to have purcnased. By this time Mr. Kyan, :the
Manager, and Myr. Houghton-James had beep brought into the
picture and the search was now on in earngst bring.ng tc
light other similar loans -~ Aston Wisdomy Adrian Baker;,

. .

anthony Harvey/ticding as Festival Car Rentals, Oscear brissett.
80 sericvus was the situation chat, although

Mirs. Linton did not usually work on Saturdays, she went

to work on saturday May 30, 1vd87, and while she was in

company wWith Me. Ryan and Mr. Haughton-James on the third

floor, just past mid-day, in came Hazel Grant and greeted

them thus “"Hi everybody, what's huppening?™. suaild

Mr. Ryan “Hazel, we arc here lookinyg for some files and we

b)

jure you might be able to assist us". "PFiles missing?

f1

L(

LLIFIN

Wo Si.%, ghe replicd, to every laedger cawd there is a

rile". She then addressed Mrs. Linton by hey nicknome
"Hi Wikel”, she said, to which Mes. Linton vesponded that
she wgs looking for some files which could noct be found.

At that point Mr. Holman, the Chief inspector, cmergoed

from Mr. Ryan's office and spoke te her. Mrs. Linton did

pot hear wihiat was sa;

id and was not any furcher involved wiith

¥

the wmatter chaev day. EShe was av che dank until 5 o'cloci

dursng which time she saw Hazel Grant go down svalrs and
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she saw and heard the male appellant talking with M. Ryan,
She saw botch appellants leave the Bank's parking lot in a
car after 5:00 p.ia.

In cross—examinacion she said that she became sus-
picicus when she gaw Hazcl Granit®s handwriting at the place
wheire the borrower ought to sign and stated that for every
loan, she expected to find either a 3avings or Current
aAccount.

The vislit o ¢he banx by Hazeli Grant was not as
casual as it might have appeared from her greetings. The
Manager, Mr. Ryan, had palg three visits to her home - twice
on May 29 and once agoin ac 9:00 a.m. on the 30th but he
found neither her nor any of the files. So after she had
staced that there was a folder for every loan, Hir. Ryan went
into his cffice along with herself, Hr. Calder and Mr. Holman.
Mr. Ryan was then in possession ¢f the twency-five files
with the photocoples of the Loan applications which hada been
in the custody of His. Yvonne Edmons, the Auditor, the Loan
Application Cards and the Uriginal Promissory nNotes which
were Rept by Mr. Gladstone Thorpe, Assistant Manager.

Mr. Ryan had made & list of uhie numes in the files but when
he read them Mrs., Grant said she had granted hundreds of
loans and could not recall any "Jjust off the bat®., 3o

Hiro Ryan prescnied nker with che documents from the filesg

on¢ at a time but to no avail., After tiils had lasted fox
about an uour Mr. Ryan decided to call in the Police. e
toos up the telephone and began dialling when Mig. Grant
said "Mr. Ryan, don't call the Police". He did not complete
the call. He said to her, "Why, do you have something o
say?®", to whach she replied, "Yes®. Dut when she sala

nothing mere e asked her :f she wished to speak o him in

i

private and when she said yes the others present left the
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room. As gecorded in the Hotes of Evidence this is what
transpired between hersclf and ir. Ryuans

"I said ‘Are these loans fictitious'.
She said 'Yes'. I sal -
them? . She said 'Yes'. 1 asked

if there were any more loans in
addition to thosc - she said N
i asked her if she had a list or
some sort of control she might

have stating what accounts are
involved. I asked her what she had
done with the money. She said sne
wWas nog 1n a position o cell me.

T gaid "It is over a million dollaws,
you must know what you did with the
money you stole'. She said 1 did
not steal any wmoney, I bozrowed it
and I had all invention of payiny

it pack®. I asked her how she was
gouing to pay it back. she indicated
chat her husband had real estate
developments and it would be paild
from sale proceeds.”

Mr. Ryan called the others back inco his office and reported
to them what had just taken place. He still pursued
snguiries wicth a view to ascertaining whether "there were
any other accounts in the boox that she might have borrowed
co wiich she said no®. He then agked "if she would give
a weltten statement confessing that she had granted these
fictitious loans and had nolt tampered with any other loans®
and she saia "yes". He thenh requested her to acknowledge
eacii of the loans iavelved and she wrolte on cach Promizsory
;N xXccxe

Note "I acknowledge the above dest®; dated and signed it.
Thereafter, she wrote a brief statement which was admitued
i evidence o Exhioczt 33, the admission of whiclhi has been
challengeda. it reads:

i sdazel Crent, a Leans Officer

av che Bank of Nova Scovia Jzm.

Ltd. Montego Bay branch do make

the following Scatewent of ny

own free wiil that during the

period Nov./v5 vo Apr./d87, &

granced louns in fictitious

names and lLiave destroyed the
files,
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"These loan applications were
taken and processed by ne.

1 have acknowledged the indi-
vidual loans by making a State-
ment *I acknowledge the above
cdebt' on each Promissory Note
To the best of my knowledge
these are all the loans & there
are no further loans and I have
not tampered with any deposits
or other leoans at this bank.

o -~

H. Grant."
Me., Ryan testifiea that this statement was given voluntarily
and that neither he nor anyone present threatened her ox
held out any induccment or pomise to her. Concerning
Mrs. Grante, Mr. Ryan saids

“She was a very matured, meti-

culous and experienced worker.

She was a very genior officer

well versed in practices, know-

ledge and relative proceduire of

the banik. I had even recomaended

her for promotion Lo management -

for cvraining.”
He said that at about ¢:00 p.w., while speaking with drs. Grant,
he was made aware of the prescence oif her husband, who had
come to fetch her. He went and spoke to the husband who
secmed anxious as to what was happening and eventually said
if it was money involved "tua: was nQ problem even if it
was a million doilars®. Prior o this encounter My, Ryan
did not know the husband. He was not allowed to see her
chien buc was usked to rewurn luaver. He did and Mrs. Grant
went and spoke with him.  After she had acknowledged ithe
cdebts My. Ryan had asked her whether her husband would
g d. . S -, - Tqde o i Pl el P o - Yy 3 I SR 4 S e g
guarantee the debity and she sald she would discuss it with
him. ©On the occasion when sihe Went to speak to her husband
she returned after wbout fifceen minutes and advised Mr.

M. Ryan that her husband would give the gquarantee but he

would prefer to send the norcgage document vo his attorney
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before signing it. However, the unlimited gQuarantee in
evidence as Exliibit 31, signed by Eldon Grant and witnessed
by Richard Haughton-James, to whom was assigned the respon-
sipility of dealing with it, is dated May 30, 1987.
My . Haughton-James testified that i. was after Eldon Grant

-~

had signed the guarantee that he and Mrs. Granc left, M. Ryan

.

and cvthers having left beforc,

A uee

My . Ryan further testifled that on the following
Monday, June 1, 1957, Mrs. Grant telephoned him., She said

she wag speaking from Kingston and wished to kiow what amount
thic bank would accept as the initial deposic in paying back
the loan. She said she could then find approximacely. $10,00
fle told her to provide the bank with a proposal indicating

how the entire amount would be paid. Hext day, June 2, 1987,

she called again, this time puipcctedly from Coral Gardens,

infoiming him that her atcvorneys, Derrick McKoy and Company,
would be giving the bank an undertaxing to pay off the amcunt.
Further, she said sibe had written a letter ©o the bank

requesting a pay-oui figure and asiked thoat the response be

sent to her at home because she

o

ad no transporitation at
the time, Mr. Ryan promised to Go as she had reguesced.
in the nmeantime, he rcceived her letrer, so when sne called

again ithe next day, Wednesday June 3, he was able to inform

+

her that he

™

1ad indeed wreceived it and chat he had sent her

a list of the varicus accounts by & porter so she should
reccive it shortly. She sald she intended to go co Kingston
to see hevy attorney to negotiate for the letter of undertaking.
He asked her to keep in touchr with him daily by collect calls.

ter letter (Bx. 34) reads as follows:



P.C., Box 154,
Reading, st. Jawes,

Mr. George Ryan,

Manayer;

The Bank of Nova Scotia Jam. Lid.
Sam Sharpe Square,

Monteyo bay

Dear Mr. Ryail,
Furtiner to our conversation of even

date, [ write to ascertain the spe01flc
loans that was the subject of our
di i

Upon determiniig this, I will be
bettey able to put more specific proposal
to you.

Yours truly,
Hazel Grant /s/
/hg."

Mrs. Grant called on the Friday to say the machine
listing which had keen sent to her was inadeguate. She wished
to have photocopies of the Promissory Hotes which she had
endorsed as well as a list of the names and the amounts
Hir. Ryan promised to send these. On the Friday she called

te ask what was happening because she had not received the

o

list and that she had heard sowme news on the radioc. He sai

£

he had heard it too and told her that the Police were inves-
tidgating. asked if che Pelice had contacted her she said no.
subseyuently, Mr. Ryan received a telephone call
from a man identifying himself as Derrick McKoy wich whonm
he discussed the matter concerning Hrs. Grant.
Me. Ryan said in relacvion o loans, the applicaciuns
and chegues wera presented to him by Mrs. Grant for his
approval and signature. de would guestion her and would

examine the purpose of the loan, the upplicants' ability
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to repay and the security. He would rely on the officer’s
credit, judgment and experience before signing chegues,
it was in these circumstances that he had signed Exhibit
75 Cheque Ko. AC344454 payuble to arthow Valentine for the
sum of $70,000 drawn on account Sylvester Graham which
Eldon Grunt depesited o Mr., lcRoy's Clients' Account and
shich was cvencually paid out to Motur Sales and Sevrvice
Company .

Cross-examination of this witness centered around
ta) operationg at the bank and (b) what transpired in his
office on May 30 leading up to and including the writing
of Bxnibit 33 - the statement of Mis. Grant. As to (&) his
evidence was confirmatory of ithe evidence c¢f other bank
cificials. He confirmed that officers of the bank from time
to time cashed chegues for customers and sometimes made pay-
ments for them. As to (b) there was no significant departure
from his evidence-in-chief. On his visit to Mrs. Granit's
home on the saturday morning he had been acccompanied by
Police from the Ceoral Gardens Statlon but it would appear
that at that stage he had not yet made a furmsl report.
Regarding the writing of Exhibit 33 he sala krs. CGrant
wanted to know whait she should write. He also disclosced
that she had told him of the fate of the files before she
wrote the statement which was written on a regular bank
scratch pad. In his evidence-in-chief he had stated she
did ask what she should write wfter it was disclosed that
the loans were fictitious and that he had told her to write
that the lcans were ficuitious.

Detective Maurice Goodgame testified that 1t was
on June 12, 1987 that he received & rcport from Mr. Ryen
and comaeinced invesitigations which resulted in these charges.

On July 27, 1987. he went to iontegu Bay Police Station and
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there he saw both appellants and their attorney-at-law;

-~

Mr. Zarl DeLisser. He identified himself to them and apprised
them of the report which he was investigating but he was

co learn nothing from them as they invoked the .xrighc to be
silent. Mrs. Grant said she had been instructed by her lawyer
to say nothing and to answer no guestcions. Eldon Grant said
"I have also keen instructed not to say anything". He pro-
Ceeded to arrest, charge and caution them. They nade no
stacenentc.

That was the evidence presented by the prosecution.
After an unsuccessful suvmission by Hr. Phipps that there
was no case to answer he announced that Eldon Granit would
rest his case. Hazel Granr gave sworn evidence and called
her sister, Andria Manning, who confirmed the visits vo the
home ny Mr. Ryan, Mr. Holwman and two pPolicemen and that at
their request she searched for the missing files bu: found
none.

Hazel Grant gave as her reason for her resignation
the fact that she was pregnunt at the time and was apparently
taking precaution because of a previous mishap. Bhe said
that her branch was checked regularly - the last being only
a few days before she commenced her leave - and she received
a good report from Mr. Sam, the inspector. indeed, she nad
never had an adverse report on the operation of her branch.
bhe sought tou meet the case for the prusecution, Referring
Lo the twenty-five loans individually she said;

i have never prepared an appli-
cation for a loan withoul peisonally
interviewing the applicant. 1 have
never approved a loan without satis-
fying myself that all the necessary
procedures fouo & loan have been
undertaken. Bufore any disbursement
is made Mr. Haughton-Jumes had to

c2e the application and in his absence
M. Ryan. When tihe loan was approved,
other than by nmyself, “r. Haughton~James
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"weuld write on it ‘Approved by
vlanager prioi to digbursement’,

tle keeps a rubbers stump. There

1s a <redic infermation Service.
On che occasions I am making Loans
f would have to get a credit
reporc f£rom them on each customer.
I have never at any time made a
loan wichout the report from tae
Credit Informatiovn Service. This
Sysitoem vperaves at the bunk from
the time i went there up to the
tie 1 letft,

Wirenever a mocor vehicle is uced

as a security for a loan I would
have to du a piiysical check of

the motor vehicle., in the cuses
before the Court I have donc
physical checks. Aan appraisal
Repori would be prepaced for the
vehicle. There is a bill of sale
for every loan that is secured

by a motor vehicle., The vehicle
would have to be insured. There
would be indication on docunentc
rdentifying the vehicles i.c¢. the
type and regisctration number - cn
the Insurance, Bill of Sale and
Appraisal. ALl documents were
prepared in respect of these matters
before Court. Thesce documents were
kept in the Customers' files in «
filing cabinet.”

She said further that everybody hau access to the cabinet,
the key fur which was kept by the typist. Ohe sulc "I did
not personally take away any file or any document from the
bank® and she also referred vo the fact that Mes. Edmons,
an auditor, had said in her evidence ithat she had seen the
Criginal appiication in spril and tay when she, the appellant,
was on leave. Wihat Mrs. Bdmons hud said in crogss-examination
was "I would have seen the Originals from time to time during
the monchs of April and Hay®. The comment may be made that
it has not been disgclesed when the files disappeared. They
were pot nissed uneil May 26, 1987,

Concerning the cheques, she said:

Wy

There is nothing false about tue
cheques which: I signed and which
are exiiibited in Couri hiere.”
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Regarding the events at Mr. Ryvan's oifice, she

said she was shown the photccopies of the applications and

she identified her handwriting on them. The guestioning,

she sald, lasted some five hours and she pecame upset because

her husband shiould nave returned for her in an hour and shco
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allowed to go to him but thatv My, Ryan did leave
the coffice and rebturned with a note from her husband. She
was given cefreshuent during the questioning. This is how

che dealt witn che writing of che statement {(BEx. 33):

*

one stage Mr. Ryan said, ‘it

a mattsg £or the Police®.

He starced diallipng the telephone.

f felt bad and 1y order to save

the ewbarrassment with myself and

wy fwaily, he sheuld not call the (sic)
Police. He asked me if 1 had
something te say ynd i made a
suggestion to himy when Mr. Ryan
asked me ‘sre thege loans ficti~
tious?', I did nog say ‘Yes'. AL
no stage did I say ‘Yes, the loans
are t1Cth;ou5'n i said 'I have
not granted any fictiticus loaus’.
i wyrote and signed a document in
tiic bank that day. L look at
Exhibit 33. I wrote and signed
it. Mr. Helman and My. Ryan kept
on telling me that 25 louans are
fraudulent, I kept denying this
for about 5 aows. Then Mr. Holman
cnreatenced to flave me arrested.
This after che telephone incident.
He told me I phould wiite what he
said to me. They gave e this
picce of papyr anc I wrote.

Mr, Holmen gnd Mr. Ryan dictated
this. I did not grant any ficti-
tious loans. 1 di¢ not destroy
any files. Dxhibit 32 was not
prepared of my own five wili. Uhe
words on Jdocwient ‘of my own frec
will® - nogt my words; 'fictitious
loans' - not my words. 4 wroite {sic)
Exhibic 33 to save embairrassment
te my family and myself and { was
chreatened that if I did not wrive
it 1 would we crrested. 4 had
writeen on the Promissory Wote
before Exhibit 33. Exhibit 33
wiitten in tie presence of Mr. Ryan,
Mr. Calder and Mr. Wam. I felt
rcal pad with the quescioning and
the threat to call the Police. On
completion of writing BExhibit 33

£ .
o oh
0
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"I refused to sign it and

Mr. Hoiman tcok up the phone and
calied Fraud Squad. © sald to

all four men *if I should sign

the note I would be given a chance
to call nmy Attorney'. BMr. Holman
rushed on to me, took his glasses
from his face and said ‘o way'.

He went and called the Fraud Squad.
¥ reully wanted to contact a lawyer.
1 sighed when Mr. Holman said

'No way'."

She denied the incident related by Mrs, Overcon relating

to the loan for E. Salmen being identified wich tlle Salmon's
stoure opposice the bank. She was not aware of uny corres-
pondence in conneccion with these wwency~-five loung being
returned "unclaimed® or "addressee unknown". No ingurance
Representative cor Agent had ever spoken co her about

David Graham, she said,., She admitted btelephoning My. Ryan
after she had heard the news on the radic cthav there was

a fraud at the bank and that she had asked for a list of

the missing files.

Cross-examined, she said that she had not attempied
to f£ind any of the applicants and chat checks with the Credit
Information Service weuld normally be done by telephone
and she would write the result on the application. She '
made the following admissions:

i. Fhat all signatures and
inigials on cheques identvified
ag hers ave indeed hers;

2. ‘Tfhat she placed her initials on
the cheques to authorize encash-
ment;

2. That she did encash tiie cheques
ag related by the several
Remittance Tellers though she
could not recall telling thena
chat she was encashing them for
the customers who were in her
cffice puc in fact the customers
were usuvally in her office i at
the counter;

4, That she did make paylhencs into

the accounts of the twenty-five
applicancs.



-3 -

With reference to Festival Car Rentals, this is

[T

i remenboer the name Anthony Harvey
don'u remember the person - no
eculleciion., If I see him I mignt.
I do not know anything about Festival
Car Rentals. { do not know any of
the persons invelved Iiv 1t - not even
one. When [ was prepaying tiwe loan
for My. Harvey connected to Festival
Cer Rentuls, I made no encuicies at
all about Festival Cur denvals. 1
aid not consider at any vime who else
may have been invelved ajonyg with
Fescivul Car Rentals. Subseguently {sic)
to processing tals leoan o Burvey 1
recall no enguiries at all about
cival Cuar Rentals. Up to voday
i have made nou such enpguiries.

- by b

mE

i heard evidence in Court Eldon Grant
involved in Festival Car Rentals.
First time { hearing it in Court.

I still have made no ¢nguiries.”

Then, dealing with Exhibit 7B, the chegue for $70,000
payable to acthor Valentine, which Eldon Granc lodged co
Mr. McKoy's Cliznts' Account, she said:

% look at Exhikit 7B. i signed
this cheque. I gave it to custe~
mer. Lt would have been hanaed to
Graham. Wot su £ handed this chegue
Lo Mr. CGrant., I do not know that
Mr. Grant lodged it te Mr., McKey's
account, ”

by =

Referring to BExbabit 14k (the cheque for $§171,341.24 payable
to Motor Scles and Service a/c Festival Car Rentals which
Elaon Grant paid <o Motow Sales and Service Company) and

the Cheque Reguisivicon therefor she said that the Reguisition
had been prepared Ly her, but said she did not have any
sciheme wioh her husband to reguest paymenit to anthony Harvey
re Motor Sales and Company. She denied that Mrs. Janet Young
had ever teleplioned her. Lo recollection of hexr telephoning
apcut cars wiiich Eldon Grant was to collect. HRor does she
vecull receiving a nessage which led her to call Mrs. Young

at Motor Suales and Cumpuny. Concerning the events in
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Mr. Ryan's ovffice con May 30, 1987, she said at the beginning
she denied that the loang were fictitious but she agreed
with Mr., Ryan's versicn that he did hand her the individual
files as he sought information concerning each. alse she
ayreed with him thnat she stepped him when he wus in the
course of telepioning tie Pulice but she dehied expressing
eny wish Lo speak Lo him in privage. She never admitted
the loans were fictitiovus. It wgs Mr. Ryan wiho told her
they were. As well she agreed that he said "it is over
one million you steal you wmust Know what you did with it",
but she denied saying "I did net steal 1t. 1 borrowed it
and had all incention of paying 1t bagk". The idea of
treating the suws as a loan cale from her iy order to save
the embarrassment to herself and famlly. With the excepuion
of June 3 she udmitted the ctelephone calls to Mr. Ryan
during June 1 - 5 as well as the letter, Exhibit 24, seeking
gspecific details.
Three grounds of appeal were argued on behalf
of Hazel Grant and two on behalf of Eldon Gyant. Ground 1,
whicih is common to both, cumplains
“{al That the ameéendments to the
Indictmenc, including tihe
addition of the appellants
to Counts after their
Defences hgd been cloused
and final addresses made,
were wrongly allcwed.
() That each appellant wvas
denied a fair heuring by
being vefused the opportunity
of itesving hy cross-

examination the evidence in
support of allegations in

che amended chasges and alsc
refused the opportunity to

give evidencg and call
witnesses to answer the
amended charges.”
For iazel Grank, Ground 2 challenged the admission into

evidence of statements allegedly wmude by her cumplaining
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that the wrong test was applied. Ground 3 of her grounds
states that "the verdict 1is unreasocuable and cannot be supportied
having regard to the evidence”. Ground 2, on behalf of
Eldon Grant, makes a similar complaint as Ground 3 (supra)
but expands it thus:

"in particular there wus no proof

of primary facts from wihiich inferences

could be drawn of an invclvement in

any criminal activity allegedly under-

taken by Hazel Grant.”
A fourth ground of appeal against sentence on behalf of
Hazel Crant was not arqgued.

{t was previcusly noted that the amendments to

the Indictment were granted aftcer all evidence had been
aaduced. But as the grounds of appeal complain, final address
oy Defence Counsel, on behalf of Hazel Grant, had also been
closed. ‘That was on December 17, 198¢. Arising ocut of
tir. Phipps' address, Mr. Small indicated his intention to
apply for amendments to the Indictrent and the wdjournment
was talken until December 28, After somswhat lengthy
submissions on December 2¢, the amendments cpplied for were
granted. Apart from the addition of both appellants to
Counts which up to then cLarged only one of thew, as previosuly
mentioned, the anmendments affected the Counts charging -

(&) Causing money to be paid by
false pretences;

{bj Causing a person to affix lis
name by false pretences;

(c) Cbtaining 2 Valuable Security
by false pretences.

A¢ that stage the Particulars alleged in these counts read:

as to (a) (dane) ...... with intent to
defraud and by means of false
precences caused ...... dollars
to be paid vide Bank of Hova
Scoucia Cheque Ho, .... Gated

@ 5 0 60 0 »

as to {(b) {Name) ..... With intent to
defraud the Bank of Nova bcotia
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I

fraudulently caused .... to
affix his name to Bank of Wova
Scotia Chegue No. ...in order
that 1t may afterwards be used
as a valuable security.

as to {(c) Eldon Grant ..... wWwith intent
to defraud and by means of
false pICLenL s obtailned clieque
no. .... for $70,000 a valuable
security fog the use or benefit
of nimseif.

in the amended form these Counts now read:

{a}) (ame) ..... with intent to
cefraud the Bank of Nova Scotia
Jamaica Ltd. by means of falsely
pretending that BNS Cheque No.
..o dated .... wes for a genuine
loan transaction CausSed cecoooss
dollars to be paid vide BBank of
Nova Scotia Cheque Nou. .... dated

« @ &0 v o a

(b) (Wame)} ...,. with intent to
defraud the Bank of Hova scotia
Jamaica Ltd. fraudlently caused
eaoe. tOo affix his name to Bank
of Nova Ycotia Creque NO. cossow
in order that it may aftcerwavds
be used as a valtvable security
by falsely pretending that the
cald cheque was for a genuine
loan transaction.

Eldon Grant was added to Count 6¢ which originally charged
Hazel Grant alone with causing a person to affix his hame
by false pretences.

{c) Hazel Grant and Eldon Grant with
intent to defraud the Bank of
Hova Scotia Jamaica Ltd. fraudu-
lently caused Richard Haughton-
James to affix his name to Bank
of lova Scotia Cheque No. AUG34569
dated 30th September, 1986 in
oraer tchat it may afterwards be
used as a valuable security by
falsely pretending that the said
Cheque was for a genuine loan
transaction,

A good starting woint is to examine the power
of amendment conferred upon a Resident Magistrate with a
view to determining whether the amendments ordered in this

case are sanctioned by that power. Such power ig conierred
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by Section 278 of the Judicature (Resident Magistrates) Act
which reads:

"At any stage of a trial for an

indictable offence before sentence,

the Court shall amend or altier the

in¢ictment so far as appears

necaessary from the evidence or other-

wise and may direct the trial to be

adjourned cr recommenced from any

point 1f such direction appears

proper in the interest either of the

prosecution oxr of the accused person.”
It is obvious from the language of the section that it
imposes a duty upon the Resident Magistrate to amend the
indictment in the tircumstances prescribed as well as a
discretion as to how to proceed thereafter. The section
{previously Section 281 of the Resident Magistrate Law
Chapter 432) has been judicially considered in several
cases anhd, in our opinion, these are the authorities from which
we nust seek guicdance and not authorities based on a conside-~
ration of the power cf amendment contained in the Indictments
Act which allows for an amendment where the indictment is
defective. There is nc such constraint in the language of
Seciion 278. We need not, therefore, considey cases which

were cited with refereice to ithe Indictments Act. Scome cases

in which section 278 vas considered are: R. v. Harris et al

(1902) 8.C.J.B. Vol. 3 p. 7¢; R. v. McCartney (193%) 3 J.L.R.

2067; R, V. Miller et ¢l (1939) 3 J.L.R. 136; R. v. Egbert

Wilson {(1953) 6 J.L.E., £270; R.M.C.A, Ho. 80/69 R. v. Desmond

hambpers (9/5/69) unrsported.

In Harris (supra) the Supreme Court upheld the
alteration of the indictment by the addition of two counts
after some evidence hd been adduced. The judoment recognised
the difference beitween the Resident Magistrates® Court and

the Circuit Court when it said at page 46:
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"It may be considered that such an
amendament could not be made in the
Circuit Court, but we think it is
within s 255 of the R.M. Law, by
which a Resident Magistrate is
empowered to alter as well as to
amend &an indictient 'so far as
appears necessary from the evidence
or otherwise ....'. We think that
thie power to alter includes a power
to prefer a new charge. The word
‘necessary’ in the expression 'so
far as appears necessary' means, in
our opinion, necessary for the pur-
pose of trying the defendant upon
any charge or charges which, upon
the facts, can properly be preferred
against him.

in some cases it might be highly
improper to altexr the indictment
without commencing the proceedings
de novo. But the evidence here
given prior to the alteration or
anendment was the same as it would
have been if the original indict-
ment had included the clinrges
subsequently added. No possible
injustice to the accused was there=
fore caused by the coursc pursued ..."

McCartney (supra) followed Harris (supra) and confirmed that
the power to amend conferred by the section (281) includes

a power to prefer a new charge. Miller {(supra) also followed

darris (supra). Egbert Wilson (supra) updated the position
when Carberry, J. at page 270G, dealing with section 281,

stated:

"it has been held by this Court that
this section imposes a duty on a
Resident Magistrate to amend by
adding counts where the evidence
nales 1t necessary to do so -

R, v. Miller and others 3 J.L.R.
136; R, v, Earvis and¢ others

1l Ctephens 45. It was neld in

R. v. McCartney 3 J.L.R. 207 that
the power to amend includes the
addition of an alternative Count."

Desmond Chambers (supra}, without referring to any of these

authorities, nonetheless applied the principles supported
by them. The judgment delivered by Waddington, P. (Ag.)

considered and distinguished the case of E. v. Robert Hughes
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20 C.A.R. 4, which had been cited. Lord Hewart, the Lord

Chief Justice giving the judgment in R. v. Robert Hughes

(supra), pcinted out that the amendment:

"was not correcting a defect in
che indictment, it was altering
its substance in circumstances
in which as it appears to us,
the defendant was prejudiced by
the alteration."

0f that case Waddington, P. (Ag.) had this to say:
"it appears from that case that
had the evidence been different,
that is to say, had the evidence
in the case supported the allega-
tion in respect of which the
amendment was made, that might
have altered the position and
the Court in that case might
have been satisfied that the
amendment was properly made.

in the instant case the Court is
satisfied on the evidence that
there was a false pretence hy
the appellant to both Hargreaves
and Myers of an existing fact.”

In the two counts charging obtaining money by false pretences
the false pretences as framed in the indictment refeisred
to a future event i.e. that the accused "wcould"” obtain tyres
for both complainants whereas the evidence established that
he had represented that he was then able - a present existing
fact - to obtain the Lyres.
Disposing of the point raised the Court held:

"It is our view that had this

point been raised in the Court

below, the learncd Resident

Magistrate would have been

justified in exercising his

powers of amendment, in amending

the indictment to make it con-

form with the false pretences
whiclh the evidence supported.

The Court is zatisfied that no
injustice has been caused to the
appellant in this case.”
[Emphasis supplied]

Cuite understandably, the Crown relies on these cases in

support of the amendments,
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On the other nand, Mr. Phipps submitted Lhat despite
the power to amend at any stage before sentence the amendment
should nct have been made in that it changes the false pretences
initially relied on, although there was some evidence of
the false pretences introduced by the amendment. That sort
of amendment, he submitted, ought not to be made at all.
He would rather rely on English decisions to support his
contenticn but, in our view, theose decisions are singularly
unhelpful because they are based on the Indictments Act,
whereas amephdments in the Resident Magistrates' Court are
governed by the Special Provisions in the Judicature
(Resident Magistrates) Act. Indeed, there is a special system
in the Act for dealing with indictments in the Resident
Magistrates' Court which is peculiar tc the Acut. See Sections
27z, 273, 274, 275, 276, 27&. In Haryis (supra) it was recog-
nised that the amendment, which was being approved, could
not be made in a Circuit Court. It is clear, therefore,
that the amendments are good if they do no more than "make
the indictment conform tc the false pretences which the
evidence supports”.

in considering the amendments as they affect
lHazel Grant, we remind ourselves that My. Phipps conceded
that, as regards this appellant, "he does not complain about
the adequacy of the evidence against her®., The question,
therefore, is this:; Does that evidence support thelfalse
pretences alleged in the amendments? Mr. Phipps complained
that having regard to the false pietences originally alleged
in the indictment the appellants could not have contemplaced,
and so set out to meet, the false pretences introduced by
the amendments and, accurdingly, such amendments without a
recommencement of the prosecution case to ailow the appellanus

to meet the new allegaticns was to the prejudice of the
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of the appellants and worked an injustice against them.

From ihe very outset in opeuning the prosecution
case Mc. Pancry is recorded as having stated that the prose~
cution proposed to prove that Hazel Grant, as Loans Officer,
prepared twen.y-five loan applications on behalf of fictititous
horrowers and chac in conseguence of these applicatlions certain
Manager's Cheques were caused to be prepared and signed by
ceriain authorized persons and the said Hazel ¢rant and that
some of these cheques were chereafter cashed by Hazel Grant
at the Banx and others paiu for encashment elsewhere. Furcher,
stated Mr. Pantry, Eldon Grant obtained certain of those
chegues which he used to have money paid over for tne use
and benefit of himself. In response to Mr. Phipps’ reguest
for specifics My. Pantry saild that “the false pretence was
by the presencing of fictitious documents to other persons
i.e. officers of tiie bank purporting thai they were for
genuine banking transactions®. We think that had he consi-
dered well che drafi indictment, which was in Court, he
would, in the light of his opening, reccgnize the need Lo
amend the draft chen and there. Vhat is mocre, Mr. Swmall
is recovded in the Wotes of Evidence as disclosaing that copies
of <he dJdocuments, on which the prosecution would be relying,
nad ween sent to defence Counsel long in advance of the
trial dace.

Amony the dictiorary meanings of “fictiticus” are
the following - “"counterfeit, false, not genuine®. iIn our
vpinivn, a documentc is equally fictitious whether it is made
in the name of a real person who did ncot in fact make or
authorize its making or 2f it is made in a name just plucked
from the air.

The evidence indicating that the bankinyg transactions

involved 1in the cwenty-five loan applications from which
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sprang the other elements of the charges are not genuine
is overwhelminyg., in brief summary, coriain important
indlcators are:s

1. uot even one of the twenty-five
"borrowers®” could be located in
the areas given in the applica-
rions. weitheo by the Police

noy by che bank ofiicer accus-
romed to tracking down delianguent
clients could any trace of thewx
existence in chose areas be
cbiained and that is so although
tite application forms are replete
with references.

2. UE che WLHTY" two racuor venicles
on whirci the bank’s money was
supposed to have been expendaed each
of wiich Hazel Granu testifica on
OdLh thau she had personally
inspecied as well as interviewed

the thnL] ive loan applicants
not even one could be locatea.

Tiere was the falsity of the Insurance
document reygarding David Graham

(see cvidence of Veronica Linton

and Ina Grayson).

S’,

4., The evaidence concerning the pro-
curing of the issue of the cheques
and cheix disposal.

5. The involvement of Hazel Grant

with Pegiival Car Rencals in
procuring the issue of four cilegues
with respect therctu, «wo of which
(SSU U0 and 540,000} she cashed on
8/4/7¢7 and 1iu/4/87 just days before

her leave began on 13/4/67 and the
other twe being used by Eldon Grant.

6. The evidence of the loan re-paymentc
by Hayel Grant, whaich she uum¢L_§uﬂ
the that no xe LdethS weie
mudm subsequenc to the last payuents
made by her and the cuvicus fact
that although of the tweacy-five
loans only nince iad ce-payment date
earlies than the 13th of the monuh
yet witii the exception of Egecrton
Gordon, whogse loan date was ¢.4.87
just five days before she went on
lier leave all the loan payments were
hade between April o - 10.

7. The guestion arising out of the
identrty of Edward Salmon wihuse loan
applica“*on izad been approved by

Hazel dranc.
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6. Even omitting Exhibic 33 and
the admissions alleged <o have
been made in Mr. Ryan‘s office
on 30/5/37 the evidence of her
subsequent conduct in deciding
to treat these loans as her
personal responsibility and
seeking specific information
about each in order that arrange-
ments could be made to re-pay them;
the inquiry of what would be
acceptable as a deposit; under-
taking to be given by her attorney
o pay off the accounts; the
unlimited guairantee given by hex
husbanu to cover the total amount
ouvtstanding.

9. The undisputed evidence that Elden

Grant had indeed cbitained possession

of, and had used to his own benefit,

two of the largest of the cheques

in gquestion ($171,341.44 and £70,0460)

for which he had offered no expla-

tion - chegues which Hazel Grant

was instruwmental in creating puirsuantc

to what were challenged as fictitious

loans.,
And these ave but some of the very telling aspects of the
evidence. Indeed, we are of the opinion that, faced with
such evidence, tile learned Resident Magistiate had abundant
justification in having tie indictment amended. Accordingly,
we see no reason to inteifere with the exercise of his dis-
reetion in graniing the awenument.

Un the guestion as to whether,having ordered the
amendment, che learned Resident Magistrate should also have
directed that the prosecucion cagse be re~opened we answer
in the negative. The case had occupied fifteen trial days
during which the prosecution witnesses were thoroughly cruss-

¢xXamlined to meet the thrust o

lat}

the case as had been ourlined
and along which lines the evidence had been piesented. There
is no indication that the prosecuticn case would be otherwise
chan it stood at thav point. Accordingly, had the case been
re-opened che prosecucion could only lead the same evidence.

Je are firwmly of the view thal no injust.ice was done €
W e fiuwmly of the view th no injus > was dJdone to
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eicher of the apgellants. Hazel Grant, wich full apprecia-
tion of tche prosecution case, had set out valianily to meet
that case. Eldon Grant, despite the evidence vf his involve-
ment wich the two chegues, had chosen to remain silent.
Whe amendment did not create a new situation by which the

appellants could say chey were ‘caken by su.prise. guite

apart from the fact that Mys. Grant's defence shows that

ct

i

she understood the charces she had vo meet, Mr., Phipps’

no-case subiissiocon

o

mply demonstrates that underscanding,

Haid hes

ﬁ
+h

"Ho case to answers 1n Jespe
both accused. Factual basis uf
prosecution's case was that
Hirs . Grant had prepaced spplica-
rions for non-existent borroweis.
HMost important ingredient of
progecution is the existence or
non-existence of the borrowers.
if there is a failure to prove
tiiat element means tnac the
necessary ingredient of each and
gvery count not established. No
Gispute ac¢ this stage that
firs. Granc dealv with Scotia Plan
cions and chat she in some
ingcances had tellers paying over
cash .n exchange for some of
chese chi

GUEE oo

That submission on behalf of both appellants put

paid to dr. Phipps' gsubmission before us to che effect that
che appellants had been led to believe thet the allegations
relacted to false chegues but that the amendment purported

co deal wxth the application foris for loans. As well, he
submicted, that alcthough the application forms did arise

cn the evidence it was only for the pucrpose oif the falsity
of the cheques. Accordingly, sc he submivied, the defence
ought to have been allowed to deal witli false pirsitences
relating to the applicacian forms and as to Eldon Grant that
he should have been allewed to deal witn the Counis to which

he was adued by the amendment. UHow can such contention be
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maintained in the face of the eéevidence given on oath by
Hazel Granit rejecting ithe falsity of thé loan applications?
According to her she perscnally saw and interviewed every
once of those twenty~five applicants and attended to all the
requirements for a genuine loan.

Cleaxrly, therefore, no prejudice resulted o either
appellant in the course adopted by the lcarned Resident

Magistrate., No new charge was presented in the sense that

(g7

evidence would be reguired to establish such charges. The
amendinents only fitted the indictment to the eviuence before
the Court. Eldon Grant, hefore as well as ariver the amend-
ments, apast from the charges of forgery with which we are
nct herve concerned, was charged wich offences relating to
thie two cheques which he had undoubtedly obtained and used
To his own benefit.

Among the findings of fact by the learned Resident

Magistrate are the follewing:

"26. hecused Zldon Grant received
Bxhibit 78 and 14A from

]

[
je NNy

weased Hazel Grant.

27, both accused were aCcing
toyether to create and use
chegues BExhibit 7B and 144
eactr knowing that the precence
chen was that a loan appli-
cacion for each was false.”

The answer of Hazel Grant is that she never knew of Eldon

Grant’s involvemeni with Festival Car Rentals Limited untcil
sihe heard the evidence in Cour%. Eldon is silent. Mr. Phiipps
submitted that there are no primary facts from which the
incriminating inference canbe drawn. Consider, therefore

vhis amazing concatenation of events. The first mention of

clhie name Festival Car Rentals Limited was by Mes. Janet Young,

e

who said tihat in August 1985, when Eldon Girant came and booked

the ven cars, he told her he was foraing a company in whose
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name the cars would be purchased. Later he advised hex

that the name of the company was Festival Car Rentals Limited
and reguested a Debit hote for four of the cars in that name.
The Debit Wote was duly issued for the sum of $171,000 and
£ldon Grant collected it and thereafter on ist October, 1986
ne presented chegue no. 03475389 for $i71,341.24 (Exhibit

144) in full paymcent for the cars. That chegue 1s by now

funmiliar from freguent references but for emphasis we repeat

H,

its particulars. Beaving date 30.9.8¢, just the day before
it was prescnted to Moz, Janet Young at iotor Sales and
Service, it is payable Lo Motor sales and 5Service a/c
Fescival Car Rentals and the evidence shows that Hazel Grant
procured its igsuvance. sut, as we have indicated previously,
Festival Car Rencals had no loan account . with the bank.

How then did Hazel Grant manage to procure the creacion of
this cheque? It purports to cmanate from the applicacion

of snthcony Harvey t/as Festival Car Rentals. But on

¥

30th beptember, 190v when such a representation was made

on tiie application Festival Car Rentals Limited had pecn

a legul contity for twenty~seven days having been incorporated
on rd Seprember, 1906. And concerning Anthiony Horvey.

M. McKoy, one of the two directors of Festival Car Rontals
Limited, said "tiat name never came up”“. Obviously meaning
that Anthony Hayvey wau a stranyger to the company. It nas
been abundantly demcnstrated on the ¢vidence tchat this appli-

cation prepared by Hazel Crant in the name of .anthony Harxrvey

<

was nat genuine. ®Wo such person could be locaved. But the
very day after the application came intce being, resulting
in the cheque beinyg created, Eldon Grant was making use of
the cheque. Ic could not have reached his hands through

Anciony Harvey. apart from the two perscons wio signea uhe

chetiue the only other persons who have been shown o have
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dealt with that cheqgue are the two appellante As & legal
tity conducting its affairs above-board, the company would
have no need to adopt such a devious method of securing a

loan. Eldon Grant iz not a director of the company yeti he

[
W

is wne one conducting the business of the company and on the
strength of this irregularicy obtained the chegue. Inasmuch,
therefore, as Dldon Grant presented thal cheque in satis-
faccion of the Debit Hote which he had irequested the only
reasonable inference, indeed, the irresistible infercence must
be that the obtaining of the Debit Nete and the procuring
of the cheque are part of a single erterprise involving both
appellants,

The chegue, Exhibit 78, for $70,000, which Eldon
Grant lodged to Mr. McKoy's Clients’ Agoount, was issued
long in advance of the incorporatiocn of Festival Car Rentals

Limiced. It

f=-
w

dated 1%.7.86 and was signed by both Mr. Ryan
and Hazel Grant in favour of Artheor Valeintine in pursuaince
of the loan application of Sylvester Graham whichi applica~
tion has been showa ©co be not genuine, Again, the only persons
whe are shoun to liave dealt with this cheque aftcr ic was
sigied are ilazel Crant and Eldon Grant., We are confidently
of the view that the inference drawn by the learned Resident
Magistrace, cthat the appeliants acted togethes in relation
to these two cheques, is both Zeasonable and inescapable.
Lt is ciue chat Zlcon did nov puisonally make any represen-
tation to any officer of the bank but he need not becausc
thaﬁ was done on his benalf by Hazel in their joint enterprise
to defraud the ovank.

Further eviaence of dgviocusness on the part of
Hazel Granic, with reference to Pegigivel Car Rentals Limited,

285 supplied by BExhibits 28a and 29A. DExnibil <64, cheque

[
-
G
5
U‘
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[
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C
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W
[
C

<

bears dave 10.4.87 the payee being
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Festival Car Rentuls a/c R. builey and Exhibit 29A dated
G.4,.87 is cheque no. 6455492 for the amount of $50G,00
payable to Festival Car Reuntal a/c Bdgar Smith. boch cheques
were encashed by idazel Grant and neither of the alleged
horrowers has been shown to exist. Why should she be cashlilng
cnegues payvable vo a coinpany in whnich her hiusband hag
majority snasreholdings even when she knew nothing of her
nusband's involvement with the company and in a cituation
in which no relationship betwecn herself and any of the
alleged borrowereé has even been hinced aty

But there is alsc another very percinent guestion
that clanmours for an answer and it is this. jlazel Grant makes
herself to be a stranger to her husbandis involvement in

.

Festival Cai Rentals Limited, why then shcould she assune

onal responsibilitcy for thne Lwo cheques which are shown
X

1o have been used by her husband for the benciiv of the

"H

company?  Then, Loo, what was ner connection with Festival
Car Rentals which would cnable her to encash the two cheques
which she had prepareu in the company's nauwe, and what noble
impulse motivated hey to accept Lfiublliity for those two
chegues? How, . then, could her evicence of lack of knowledge
of Bldon's involvement with the company be cruce? And since

her evidence rnust be a lle, why did she lie? The answer

joint

-

is ovbvicusly a desperate endeavour to conceal their
eilterpirise,

By

We have deliberatcely deferred dealing with the
complaint relating to wile admissions, both orul awnd written,
which were nwde in My, Ryan's office. The complaint 1s that,
in che circumsvances in which Bxhibit 33 and the endovsement
on the 2romissory wWotes were written and the oral statements

tade, the prosecution has failed to show chat they were

voluntacry. Disgualifying factois wvefervred to arce that
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Hazel Grant was sequestered in Mr, Ryan's office for some
five hours with pecrsons in authority, was not allowed to
see her husbuand and wap subjected to oppression. Although
we do not agree that Mr. Ryan's atiewmpt to call the Police
was any evidence of pppressicn we nonetheless have some
reservation about the circumstances in which those admissions
were hade. My, Holman is alleyed to have shown much hosti-
lity to the appellapt, who was the junior officer among those

resent, and inasmuch as he was not available co allow his

s

conduct to be exgmined Ly the Court the taint of oppression
vemains and we gonclude thav the impugyned evidence ought
not to have bgen admitted. evestheless, we entertain no
doubt whaisoever that there 1s overwhelmning evidence,
unaifecited by the eyidence now omitted, thai the charges
have been satisfactorily proved and that each appellant had
a fair heariang. Ve are also of che view that the impugned
evidence did pot turn the scales against the appellant.

See R. v. Parkey 45 C.A.R. 1. Aaccordingly, pursuant to

section 30U5{3) of the Judicature (Resident Magistrates) hct
alihough tpe point raised asg to the admissibility of these
admissions has been decided in favour of the aprellant we
are moneiheless of the epinion chat no substantialmiscarriage of
justice nas acthallyoccurred and so we dismiss che appeal
on thav point. With the exception, thecefore, of the
complaint against (je admission of these admissions, we
find that the ground$ of appeal are without serit.

The appedals ape accordingly dismissed and the
convicrions and sentences affirmed.

No subuissionps were addressed to us on the sentences
although Hazel Grant iacluded, anong her grounds, a ground
that the sentence is napifestly excessive. The villainy

disclosed in the evidenca by a person iu such « position
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of trust bétrays great ingenuity four wiiich shie has been
mistakenly applauded and rewarded. ' sentence is not in
any way excessive let alone being manifestly so.

m

The gentences will commence from the L0th day of

Februacy, 1965.





